BERORE THE INDUSTRIAL ACCIDENT BOARD
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Pursuant to due notice of time and place of hearing served on all parties in interest, the
above-stated cause came before the Tndustrial Accident Board on November 4, 2015, in the

Hearing Room of the Board, in New Castle County, Delaware.

PRESENT:
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JOIN D. DANIELLO

_Kimberly A. . Wilson _Workers Compensatlon Hearing Off Officer, for the Board__

" APPEARANCES:
Richard T. Wilson, Attorney for the Employee

Christian G. McGarry, Attomey for the Employer/ Carrier




NATURE AND STAGE OF THE PROCEEDINGS
- Mary ‘\/Ialham (“lenmant”) mjured her cervical spine (also ° ncck”} while Wodﬂng for
Little Slsters of the Poor (“Employer or “Little Sisters™) on July 23, 2012 The injury was
recognized as compensable and Claimant has received certain workers’ compensation bepeﬁt_s.
Claimant has been receiving total disability benefits since her accident at the rate of $260.297 per
week, based on her wage é‘t the timé_of injury of $3 90.43 per ﬁfeek.

On June 2, 2015, Employer filed a Petition to Terminate Benefits seeking to terminate

- Clammant’s rece1pt of total d13ab111ty beneﬁts Employer argues that Claimant is capabie of

retuming to ‘work in some capacity and that there is eﬁridence of work aﬁaﬂable in the general -
labor market within her restrictions. C‘Iaimant concedes that she is capable of working but
argues that she is a dispiéced worker. Disability benefits have been paid to Claimant by the
Workers’ Compensation Fund since the filing of the i)etition, pending a hearing. and decision.

A hearing was ‘held on Employer’s pefition on November 4, 2015, This is the Board’s
décision on the merits.

SUMMARY OF TI-'IE BEVIDENCE

Clamant . Was caHed as the ﬁlst Wltness for Employer Clamzant was to’tally dlsabled

following a neck i 1njury but her surgeon Dr. Rudin, recently told her that she is capable of
returning to sedentary work. He restricted her from lifting anything beyond ten to fifteen pounds
and told her that she should not work on her feet a lot. He also advised her that she needs a job

that is mostly sitting in nature. Claimant had a functional capacity evaluation (“FCE™) in May of

- 2815, which also indicated that she was capable of working.

When Claimant worked for Employer, she was a CNA. She provided personal care to

patienfs and assisted the nuse in charges. & CGNA requires specialized training, and Claimant




trained at the Delaware Skills Center every day, all day, for eight weeks in order to be frained as

a CN;X-.' - This involve& h_ome'work,' but not really any computer work. Claimaﬁt does not own &
-bomputer at home. ) | |

C]:éimant was questioned about her current condition. Claimant’s neck is still painful. As

a result, Claimant has to constantly readjust while sitting to be more comfortable. Claimant

| drives, but not often. Her driving is limited becavse it can get painful. Claimant’é husband does

rost of the cooking and cleam'ﬂg at home. Cla'unant does go grocery shopping with him when

typical day. She reads the paper, does puzzles, watches television and job searches.

Claimant discussed her background. She received a high school diploma in 1975, She
briefly attended Delaware Technical & Community College n 1984, but.- withdrew due to her
son’s medical condition.' Before she worked for Little Sisters, Claim.ant worked for Comfort
Keepers as a caregiver, assisting fesidents with activities of daily living, hygiene and other duties
as ﬁeeded. Prior-to that, Claimant worked for Chimes, caring for handicapped and disabled
patients. Before Chimes, Claimant performed houéekeeping work for Newark Manor Nursing

Home as well as Gardens of Whlte Chapel Fuﬂher Claunant Worked at Wood51de Elementaly

School as a tutor for special education o]:uldlen The WOlk was on a volunieer ba81s and Claimant
would provide any help that the children needed. The work would also include helping the |
children in and out of wheelchairs, a-t times. In the past, Claimant als¢ worked as a banquet
server at North Egst River Yacht Clﬁb.

After Dr. Rudin released Claimant to return to work, Claimant updated her resume.  Her

curent resume is handwritten, as Claimant does not have a computer at home.” Claimant does

! Claimant testified that hér son is now 33 years old, and no longer lives with her,
2 Claimant’s most recent handwritten resume was marked into evidence as Employer’s Exhibit #1.




have a Yahoo emaill account, ho_weve]:. She also concedéd that the resume she submitted to Little
Sisters before she began Workmg there was tj,fpewritten.B Claitnant'e‘gplamed that she had ﬁot
~typed the resume herseh she had‘ another pe:rson Lype it for he‘x years ago. Clazmént hadr
handwnﬁen her own resume and then had a Division of Vocational Rehablhtatmn (“DVR”)
worker type it up for her. That was the resume that she had submlﬁ'ed to Litfle Sisters.
" Unfortonately, the only copy that Claﬁﬂant had of that resume got ruined and was no longer

1egible. (Claimant agreed that when she attended the Delaware Skills Center, the importance of a

“rguality restite was siressed:

Claimant was next questioned r;;fbout the content contained on her updated handwritten
resume versus the typewritten resume. Claimant agreed that she had put on the resﬁmc that she
had left Chimes due to “Injury on job site to spine” and that she had left Little Sisters due to
“Injury on job site; Required spinal surgeries (3} and 3 years recovery time. Left me with
physical limitations of sedentary work onlty.” She admitted that she had mentioned the Chimes
spinal injury on her newest handwriften resume, though she had not mentioned it on the
typewritten resume that she had submitted to Little Sisters. Claimant explainéd that the DVR

person that typed up her resume had told her that the mformatlon about he,r leaving Chimes due

ta SPmal injury should not be added’ because 1t might hurt her ablhty to get work

Claimant confirmed that she has documented all of her job searchjng since her release to
return to work. Though she does not have a computer at home, Claimant did some of her job
searching using computers at a publicrlibrary.- She is only able to access those computers for up
to two hours per day, however. Claimant testified that many of the potential employers she

identified seemed to prcfc_tr online applications. Claimant identified online job openings via the

* The typewriﬁen resume that Claimant had provided to Little Sisters when she seught employment from the
company was marked into evidence as Employer’s Exhibit #2.




websites ZIPLGC].U.IL(‘:‘I corn, careerbuilder.com, jobsbrassring.com and jobdiagﬁ_ostics.com.

CldIIﬂalli_ confirmed that her ]Ob search 716001{15 mdlcate that she apphed online for various

cash'ier, hostess, recepﬁonist; custorer Service or clerk-type pOSithIlS. Clalman’t also saw job

opening .'signs on doors and walked into various locations and also applied for work. Though
~ some of the idenﬁﬁéd jobs do not specify idénftiﬁcation dates, Claimant expléined that she began
| applying for work as sobn as Dr. Rud-in' released her to retuun to work.

Claimant did agree that there were various other jobs that she applied for or identified

that reqmred lifting hlgher than the restncnon that Dr. Rudm had glven ven her, Clamlaa?plaméd '
that she had just gone to apply to a lot of places and was unaware that she had a 1ifting restriction
at fhat time. Some of the employers that she tried to place applications with had told her not to
bother filling out an application because she would not Be a ﬁt Rite Aid was one c;f ‘[hose.
places. Claimant recalled filling out an appiicaﬁon at Rite Aid, and then the store manager being
called over to meet her. Claﬁnaut was pulled aside and asked about what “was going on with
her” and what her physical linmitations were. Claimant told tﬁe manager about her work njury
and her sedentary work limitations and the manager fore her app]icaﬁon.'m half in front of her.

She was told that she could not be consxdered for the Jjol ob Th_lS really made Claumemt feel bad

Claimant agreed that she had applied at places like Lowes that tend to have heavy
merchandise_. She explained that she was just tryirig to apply for woﬂ; anywhere and
e’verywhére. Claimant also admitted thaf while she testified thatrsh'é cannot do housework in her
own home, she had applied for two housekeeping jobs. She explained that she thought she was
acmally applylng for customer service positions. Claimant aiso agreed that she had applied for
}obs that appealed to be waﬂzcssmg, \Vhlc.h would quunc her to be on her feet a lot. She

- _clalificd that. she thought the JUbS were hosless posumna. “she l]'l()UL,]JL that with o hosfess

_ * Claimant’s “Job Search Records™ log vwas marked Into evidence as Claimant’s Exhibit #1.




position, she vmight be able to sit down when a restaurant was not as busy. Claimant agreed that
she had also applied to the Culinary Arts Group, although she testified that she cannot cook.
‘Claimant explained that she thought that méybe she could cook ﬁrbjle sittmg down,

Claimant agreed that she had also appliéd to the Iab>or market surifey (_“LMS”) jobs. She
sent her résume to the LMS employers and applied to most of them online. Claimant then called
them, but x;vas told that they would instead contact her. She was also told thatlthey only hold

applications for 30 to 60 days, and that if she did not hear from them, she would not likely be

hired. C_laifﬁla‘.};t;g-:éed Théft she did not call thém back ,afterjth;{poiﬂt; sincé“she was told she
* would liear_ﬁrifbin 30-60 days, s-he felt that there was no point in éa]liﬁg back after that tirne
period passed.

Claimant was questioned about whether she tried ;ro apply for any jobs around the
Christiana Mall area, She said that she tried to walk around the mall a little, but was in too much
- pain. The cement floors were very difficult for her back, so she did ﬁot get mﬁch accoﬁpﬁshed.
Claimant felt that it was also too haird for her to drive there from Wilmington because she is

limited in how much she can drive, While Claimant injured her neck in this work accident,

7C1a1'mant has had other inj E{iiz;‘to her back, shoulder and arm also. .

Claimant was next questioned by her own counsel. She agreed that the public Hbraries
allow a maximum of two hours per day of online use per person.' A

Claimant also agreed that she feels thét 1t 18 more pru‘dent to tell po-tentiai employers
about her physical restrictions because it is not acceptable to accept a job that she cannot
perform. If a job cansed {further harm to Cleiimént, it would also not make sense:

Claimant testified that she had also suffered a back 'mjﬁry at one poinf while lifting a

resident. She had an onset of pain and then weil to Gecupational Health. - Clament recetved




medications, physical therapy and medications for treatment. Claimant acknowledged that she

.had a prior neck injury in 2005 as well; however, between 2006 and this work accident, she

reaﬁy did not have any iss-ue-s with her neck.

Claimént agreed that, after this work Vaccident, she wés réfen'ed to Dr. Rudin in December
of 2012. She had known him from before from prior injuries. Claimant has had ébreé or four
total srurgeries to date. While Claimant had other gUIgéries prior to her work accident, she was

able to perform all of her CNA work duties before this incident.

‘ D1 Rudin released_ Clannant to ot fo Full time sedentary work on Ju Fy 1, 2015, aﬁer he
reviewed the results of the FCE with her. She began looking for a job after that. Clamant
agreed that there are about 45 handwritten job search contacts that s]ie left undated. She
explained that she identified these contacts by branching out to different businesses in close
relation to her home and went Hl.alld verbally asked about work. These Weré “cold caﬂs” in th‘at
Claimant did not know whether or not any positions were actual[y available before she inquired

or applicd. She did inform these employers of hex physical Iimitaﬁons. A lot of them would not

éven accept applications fromt Claimant. This included the incident at Rite Aid. Some hadl

accepted apphcatlons from her however B

Claimant testified that she was able fo apply to every JOb on the LMS except for the
Appletree job, though she went online to try to place an apphication.” Appletree indicated online
that there were no jobs at the company that fit hef search criteria, though Claimant could not
remember what terms she had used to search. Claimant had also informed éa(.zh LMS employer
of her physical restrictions. Theie applications were plabed the last week of Augunst 2015, This

includes the Central Parking bosition; Claimant applied online and thought that she had gotten an

* An additional packet contaiming Claamant s jab search efforis, mcludmg the LMS employers, was marked into
evidence as Claimant’s Exhibit #2.




aclmowledgement;that the application had been received. Claimant tried to apply online for the
T—)amep position, but she was not able to bécausc-: the job was listed ag “clﬁsed.”

| Clahﬁant—particulaﬂy remembered applying for the Be Truly Well Chjropré.ctic position
that Employer- identified on the LMS. She caﬂéd_ and was told £0 submit a resume by mail, so
Claimant did so. She used the address provided on the LMS. Claimant could récall waiting in a

long line at the post office to mail her resume to this employer. Claimant also recalled applying

for the Simon Eye, Dental Spa and 7-Eleven jobs. She has yet to hear any response in regard to

" any of these applications.

Clai;nant also iried to apply for a customer service job at Christiana Hospital; because the
job was no longer open, she was not able to even apply for it. Claimant was then enrolled in
something, however, in which Christiana Hospital began sending her emails regarding other job
opportunities. Unfortunately, all of the jobs sent to her were nursing and physician positions that
she did not qualify for. |

Claimant also looked into employment with the Costco food court area. She did not |

apply at Costeo for two reasons: first, an employee named “Debbic” told her that they only hire

in the spring. Second, Debbie said that employees must be able to do every job in the sfore in

order to be h];red Shn;, Was-;cﬂould this includeg “stocld;ril;g;:’ﬁv;fri;cizlvlv isr é very phgrswic;al job.

élahnant had a similar experience with Chipotle. She inquired in thé store about what
she thought was a cashier position, but was fold by “Rue” that no positions existed within her
restrictions. Claimant was told that the job would be physical. She did not place an application
as-a gzsult. Claimant aiso I_O'Oked nto Bon Aﬁp_etit,. but the job she was inqﬁil’ing about was

aJready filled before she got there.




Claimant placed véri_ous applications for receptionist, customer service or cashier jobs
that she beheved were within her work restrictions. These mcluded Cardia Rehabilitation, Toll
Brothers, Delaware PauL Hertrich, YMCA Z-Market, US Secunty Raymour &nd Fiamgan
Amtrak, Michaelé, Safeway, Waste Management, “Sports —Au’tho:ity, Pizza Uut, Pathmark,
Creamery Tife, Wegmans, Cracker Basrel, Albertson’s and AEX Group. Claémant recelved
confirmations that her applications were received, but she dld not othglwxrise hear back from most

of these potenual employers Claimant had received emails from Delaware Park and Herfrich

mdicating basically that Lhe employeml were notmterm hiTing et at the present time.

(laimant also contacted DVR at the Delaware Department of Labor for help with jOb
placement. Claimnant was interviewed, and asked about what she thought she v;fas able to do.
Claimant had mdmated “cashier” and “hostess,” though she stated that she had not had any luck
acquiring those types of positions, Claimant then asked for gnidance on what type of job she
might be able to do, given her restrictions; however, it did not scem that the DVR representative
was able to provide much help in this regard.

Claimant further retumned to the Delaware Skills Center to apply f01‘ a medic.al assistant’s

sclasse Claumant apphed took a test and had an mm with a nurse that trams assistants.

However, during the interview, Claimant ‘was told that a medical assistzmt job Would requue hel

o be on her feet 2 lot as well as the ability to Lift forty pounds.

Claimant testified that she agrees with Dr. Rudin that she carmot perform work outside of

a sedentary ln_m’(atlon She wants to retum to work and has no intent to retire at 58 years of age.

If an CITlpLOYGl OffCICd her a job or job placement, she would accept the posifion. Clalmant

bﬁiieves that she has made the best efforts that she can to find work within her restrictions.




Dr. John Townsend, Iil, a neurolegist, testified by deposition on behalf of Employer.6
Dr. 'I"o?m'send _evaluéted Claimant on two occasions and supplied reparts of his conclusions in
this case oﬁ April 2; 2015 and August 21, 2015. He further _reviewe.d: Claimant’s pertinent
medical records in performing his evatuation.’ |

Dr. Townsend noted that Claimarit’s most recent surgery was f;)r removal of spinal
instrumentation at C4-5. Afterward, she complaineci of pamn of 7 on-a scale from 1 to 10 and

retumed to Dr. Rudin in January 2015. At that pom‘t Claimant reported pain in her neck that she

- rated a5 741§ out of 107" She was usmg oaycodone and Neurontin at the time.

In. April 2015, Dr. Tqurnsend first examined Claimant. At that time, Claimant advised
Dr. Townsend that she was injured while moving a resident while working as a CNA. She was
reportedly moving the resident while the wheels on a lift locked and pulled—as did the
resident—and Clahﬁant subsequently developed neck pain as a result. Claimant had physical
therapy, an MR, and ultimately surgéry from Dr. Rudin,

Dr. Townsend discussed Claimant’s April 2015 subjective complaints. She noted that B}
she had neck pain that would go mto both sides of the neck \%fi{;h numbness in the left shoulder

blade leﬂ thumb mdex and little ﬁnger Claunant also complamed of some n,qht shoulder pam

e - e e e

she described her average pam level as a 7 on a scale from 1 to 10 wﬂhout medication.

®Dr. Townsend’s deposition was marked into evidence as Employer s Exhibit #3.

? Dr. Townsend festified that Claimant suffered a right shoulder and neck injury in 2005 while Lifting a heavy
. patient, Claimant had nerve root blocks, followed by an anterior cervical discectomy and fusion at C5-6 and C6-7 .

A subsequent EMG suggested chronic right-sided C6 radiculopathy. She had a permanency evaluation. C]a:mant

had no obvious complaints of neck or arm pain in her 2010-2012 medical records, however.

Claimant did return for treatinent in July 2012 for complaints of right shoulder pain after pulling a patient. She had
tenderness over the right paracervical region that she rated as a 7 out of 10. She was released to light duty work and
had a course of physical therapy. Claimant ultimately had another surgery in January 2013, in which Dr. Radin
vermoved the old spinal insttumentation and did @ discectonny and fusion at C4-5, the Jevel above the prior fusion.
Clahmgnt continued with neck and arm- complaints, though she stated she had a 50% mmprovement following
surgery. Claimant then had a CT scan of the cervical spine in June of 2013, which suggested a nonunicn, and
Claimant ultimately had a posterior fusien in August of 2G13.
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On examination, Claimant had decreased cervical range of motion. Dr. Townsend did

not find any muscle spasm, but she did have tendemess in the neck. Newologically, she had.

normal strength in the upper and lower extremities as well as normal reflexes. Her gait was

normal and she had a normal sensory exam fo femperatire and vibration. She made no .

complaint in regard to her use of oxycodone and Neurontin. Dr. Townsend’s impression was of
chronic neck and arm complaints, though she had a normal neurological exam, following an

aﬂtenof cenqcal ‘1151011 at Cca-52

As of April 2015, Dr. Townsend felt that Claimant was capable of workmg He
suggested a sedentary job with- no more than 10 pounds of lifting occasionally. His
recommendations were that Claimant could sit ﬁve hours per day, stand two to three-hours a day
and walk one to two hours a day. Dr. Townsend testified that these recommendations were
based on Claimant’s subjective éomplaints.

Claimant had had an FCE 011‘May 2, 2015. The FCE examiners felt that Claimant gave
variable levels of physical effort, based on se]f—limiﬁng behaviors. This meant that the patient

said that she conld not complete certain panels of lifting because of neck pain. Claimant was

—said to-have given-k low & effort on-the grip testing studies and .was- -noted - to have- few examplesof

. competitive test performance during the exam. They felt that, based on her lifting, she could lift

up to 12.5 pounds occasicnally, though noted that there was some inconsistency in her pain and

- disability reports; namely, Claimant saw herself as being severely disabled, though she did not

appear severely disabled in terms of her neck function during the observational portion of the

study. Further, while Claimant demonsirated - standing tolerance for 42 minutes and an hour’s

worth of sitting tolerance during the FCE, this was four to six times more than what Claimant

®pr. Townsend confirmed that Dr. Evan Crain had evaluated Claimant’s right shoulder in April of 2014, and he had

released her to return to full duty work as to the shoulder only at that fime.
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stated that she could do. Claimant also reported that she perceived herself as being capable of
doing 16-5_5 than sedentary work, though_thé study showed that shg was capéble of_dﬁ_ing so. Dr, )
Townsend confirmed thatAthe FCE ﬁndingé suggestea that Claimant was embellishing her
symptoms.

Overall, the FCE found that Claimant was capable of full-time seaentary to light duty

work, with no liffing of more than 12.5 pounds, and that material handling below twelve inches

was not recommended. Dr. Townsend explained that this meant that they probably did not want

her bending at the waist.

When Dr. Townsend evaluated Claimant again in August of 2015, he ﬁfst reviewed
Claimant’s updated medical records from Dr. Rudin, Dr. Rudin ﬁad reviewed the FCE results’
and refeased Claimant to work in accordance with the FCE findings. Further, Claimant had an
EMG on Apnl 2, 2015. Dr. Townsend testified that the sesults of the EMG‘ were normal. He
explained that although the 2005 EMG found a radiculopathy at the -C6 level, the normal 2015
study sﬁggested that there were no ongoing findings consistent with the prior findings.

Dr. Townsend testified that Claimant's physical examination and presentation in August

2015 were much-the-same-as:they had-been in-April 2015. Claimant still reported.that.her. pamn -~

was about a 7 out of 10, and that was without medication. She did report that she felt that if she
took her medication, she could rot drive, though Dr. Townsend saw no indication that any of her
physicians had” docutnented problems with her medications.” Claimant also reported that her

husband was doing the cooking and cleaning at home and that she could not lLift anything.

Claimant still complained of neck pain and some numbness in the shoulder blade, which were

similar to her April 2015 complaints. Dr. Townsend confirmed that Claimant showed nothing on

? Dr.- Townsend suggested other medications be substituted if Claimant is having a problem with drowsiness, He
went on fo state, however, that if Claimant has been taking these medications for years, she should not be having

* new complaints such as drowsiness in this regard.
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clinical examination to warrant a suspicion of an active rédiculopathy. D1 Townsend’s
impression of Claimant remained the same. He did update Claimant’s restrictions to avoid lifting
moré than 15 pounds gécasionally; D-thené;iise,' the rest of bis recommendations remained the
same. Again, he' based these res)tricﬁons on her subjective compléints.

Dr. Townsénd testified that he reviewed thg TMS and felt that a majority of the jobs were
within Claimant's restrictions. He noted that the Iess sales associate job suggested that an

~employee had to Lift upr to 20 pounds, which would be outside of the 15 pound lifting restriction

-_',#h'e_recommen'ded;:hoWeﬁerrasiong—as:@laimaﬂuverf:abl@fa_liftij_pounds_or.less,Jhere;&ouldj%:__-m ,
- be no prdblem. In fact, he téstiﬁéd that there would be ﬁo problem with her performing any of
the LMS jobé, which are essentially cashier/receptionistftype of jobs and greeter jobs. One job is
a security guard job, though it appears to be more of a front-desk type of job rather than oﬁe that
would involve Claimant being confrontational or needing to act. like a police officer
On crbssﬂexan:dnation, Dr. Townsend agreed that Claimant’s inconsistency was
documentedl o be minor on the FCE in regards to Claimant’s pain and disability reports. He
further agreed that the report documents, “In describing such findings, this evaluator is by no

means implying intent.”

= oy Towmsend acknowledged that Dr. Rudin bad released Claimant to full-time sedentary

~'lwork. | He agreed that this was because Dr. Rudin had felt that 12.5 pounds was closer to
sedentary duty than to the 20 pounds reflective of light dufy. |

_On redirect examination,- Dr. Townsend agreed that the LMS jobs are reasonable from a

sedentary perspective, in‘which Claimant. could 1ift no 1‘.—1101’.6 than 10 pounds; this is with. the

exception of the Hess job, unless the lifting requirernent were lowered.

il
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Andy Rodrniguer, Human Resources Director of Little rSistevrs,,testiﬁed on behalf of
Erﬁployer. He has worked inrﬂ_lis_ cepacity for Little Sisters since 1997.  His job entails
1eczmlment retention, payr oli/benefits and consultation with other Little Sisters facilities:

Mr. Rodriguez hired- Claimant personally through the Delaware Skiils Center progrém.
In 2000, there was a huge shoftagé of CNA workers. As a result, Mr. Mr. Rodriguez sought to
Jink with the Delaware SkiIIs Center program because he \a;as impressed with therr ability to train

, Vadults mn certain fields. The Delaware Skills Center interview process was very selective; out of '

—-about420=applicants;-the f:-usuallgrb@ni-jts_"éléétédrl%#fbﬁﬂ:smdents—_far:t-heir:prééfémﬂﬁe
students -have to pass a math aﬂd a reading exam. Once selected, Thg students ére not only
prepared as medical assistants, they are aIéo prepared on becoming job-ready.- This includes the
proper preparation of a resume, how fo inferview and how to be marketable in the employment
market. Mr. Rodriguez also conducted a question and answer session of things to say and not to
say during a:n interview. This included things that can sabotage one’s ability to get a job.

Mr. Rodriguez was personally involved in hiring Claimant and interviewed her based on

her resume.m He met her during a job fair four that Little Sisters does once a quarter, Claimant

had done very well through the CNA Pro gmm at the Delaware Skﬂls Center. He noted that, over

the years CNA posztlons have become mcreasmgly comprehensnfe posmons They Tavolve
mormning and aftemoon care of patients, activities of daily living, and infection control.  Further,

there is a lot of documentation and record keeping involved.!' In fact, Little Sisters is State- .

 Mr. Rodriguez was shown Employer’s Exhibit #2 (Claimant’s handwritten resume). He confirmed that he was

surprised that she had submitied such a resume, given her fraining in completing a resume during her studies af the

Delaware Skills Cenier. He also testified that he would not personally consider a candidate with the resume.

Claimant objected to this que'sﬁon'ing on the basis that Mr. Rodrignez was not an expert; Employer proffered that as

Mr. Redriguez has worked for a long time in the area of human resources, he is capable of testifying in this regard.

The Board overniled the objection. Mr. Radrignez testificd on cross- “examination that he has been certified by the

Seeiety of Humen Resoureo Professionals. :

! Mr. Rodriguez testified that the use of computers was not really required when Clamlant worked for Little Sisters,

Tt was a manual and tedicus record keeping process at that time. He testified that now that Little Sisters is audited by i
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surveyed once a year. In turn, the CNAs are also observed once a year to insure that they are
uphold]'ﬁg State standards. |

Mr. Rodriguez testified about Clalmant as a. Little Sisters employee. He found Claimant
to have great customer service skills with the 1emdems She had a great rapport with them
Claimant was responsible for about 7 to 8 residents on her floor. Clamaant s 90-day appraisals
were graded as satisfactory or above; St. Gloria had reviewed Claimant and felt that Clammant

worked very well with an entire floor of residents.

}.;%-;:I\ﬂreﬂednguez—noted thata- CNApositioris tnedical: in-nature-butis-also=more-than- thai————

These employees essentially keep the residents happy. They get them up in the morning and .

serve them to the best of their ability, while also dealiﬁg with sifuations such as
dernentia/Alzheimer’s as well as loss of other residents and the residents’ loss of their own

physical abilities. Claimant was IESpOﬁSlble for blood, weight and pulse checks, reportmg to a

head nurse, making sure residents arrived on time fo their medical or physical therapy
appointments as well as interacting with the residents during social activities. There is a lot

involved with the job -and it is a very important job. |

- On cross examination, Mr Rodnguez testified that thtle Sisters has about 125 employees

a£ the Newa1k locatlon there are abeut IOOO employees between all loeatlons _ The eiosest L1tt1e

Sisters location to Newark is the Baltimore campus.

M. Rodriguez confirmed that, based on her sedentary duty restrictions, Cleimant most
likely cannot Work as a CNA. He testified thet, as of the date of the hearing, there were no
positions available _et Tittle Sisters location in Newark within Claimant’s restrictions. M.

Rodriguez further testified that there are light duty jobs at times, such as front desk/receptionist

the State everythmg is electronic. However, Mr. Rodrlguez noted that Claimant did perform online iraining usinga -~
computer at the time that she worked for Little Sisters.
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positions. Claimant would qualify for one of those positions, though there is a low turﬁover rate
' foi those 50bs. He has not had to hirve that position in four fo five years. Mr. Rodriguez agreed
7, that Claimant was discharged because sh;a had a"s’ed&ntéry duty restriction and there were no jobs
available at Little Sisters within that restriction. He agreed that if it were not for her physical
restrictions, ;he would still be employed there. Mr. Rodriguez further testified that Claimant was
a good employee and Little Sisters had no issues with her work. |

Mr. Rodriguez was questioned about whether someone wiih physical restrictions would

haveless opportunities in-the open-labor market-than-someoneelse-who-isunrestricted—Tedid-

' not agree that this is the case. Even within the long term care facilities, there are jobs available

just doing social activities with residents, Further, she could work front desk/administrative type

- of jobs within facilities. Mr. Rodriguez reiterated that Claimant had good customer serviée skills

when workiﬂg with Liﬁle Sisters.

T"he Board next questioned Mz, Rodriguez. Mr. Rodriguez testified that, inra given day,
about 20% of a CNAs job is physical, while the other 80% is admimnistrative in nature. The j‘ob is
likely classified as medium duty.

M. Rodriguez further estimated that about 10 to 15% of the jobs at Little Sisters are light

duty or sedentary in nature, though he reiterated that due to low turnover, those positions become

available only very rarely. *

Barbara Stevenson, a vocational rehabilifation expert with Coventry, testified on behalf
of Employer. She prepared the TMS m this case in accordance with Claimant’s vocational
background and physical restrictions. Ms. Stevenson testified that the FCE, D1. Rudin and Dr.

Townsend all had Clairant within a sedenfary” to light dﬁty capacity, lifting ten pounds
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occasionally, Siﬁing up to 5 hours in an 8.hour day, standing up to 2 10 3 hours in an 8-hour day

"and walking between 1 0 ? hours pex day

Ms. Stevenson also relied on the fact that Claimant is a high school gIadua’Le attended
two years of college, attended the Delaware Skills Center and received a CNA certification. She
further reviewed Claimant s resurne and was aware that she worked in housékeepipg, as a CNA,
a tutor, as a personal caregiver and as a banquet server in the past. |

Tn Ms. Stevenson’s view, Claimant has many transferable skills. She is able fo

" jobs are within ih%l'istr_iﬁt_io_n?_ §§fciby both Dr Rudm and Dr Townsend

communicate in writing and in speech, both provide and Teceive inf(iﬂﬁéﬁon,—tékeiareﬁf:the—f—;;

elderly, young and sick, talk easily to put others at ease, react quickly to emergency situations,
conduct investigations, pelform recordkeeping and documentation, just to name a few.

s, Stevenson identified 12 jobs on the LMS between May 27" and August 14, 2015
within 30 miles of Claimant’s home address.”” The ]obs average between a low of $300 weekly
and a high of $578.85 Weekly She verified that each job was available at the time it was
identified. Ms. Stevenson also verified that each employer would consider an application from

someone wfth (Claimant’s background and with her Limitations. She testified that the identified

Ms. Stevenson addressed th(; Hess job, in light of Dr. Townsend’s teshmony The 3ob is .
basically a self-serve gas attendant. The employee sits in a small store, where items such as
sodgs, snacks and cigarettes are sold. The employee will take cash and credit card payments as
well as give direc:ﬁons. Th‘_ere are two separate Hess locations within 30 miles of Claimant’s .
home. Ms. Stevcmon COBﬁ] med that 7‘{1:.1@ employee would pessibly' have to lift twenty pounds

very rarely, though this could be easily accommodated. This would be a scenario where-a

-

. 12 The LMS was marked as Employer’s Exhibit #4.
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customer bought 2 whole case of sodas. The employee could just Lift one soda at a .iime mstead
of ?ift'mg the whole case.

As rfor the i—Mart job,‘Dr.‘ Rudin also took issue with the repeﬁtivé nature of the joB.
This store is sthilér to the Hess store, with sodas, snacks and cigarettes being sold. " Ms.
Stevenson testified that again, ar éasy accbmmodé.tion could be made in which tﬁé employee
would pick up a can of soda at a time instead of the entire case at once. Even though the job

description says heavier lifting, it is only because it presumes that an entire case would be picked

T at a time.

Ms. Stevenson next testified about the Appletree job. It is a customer service position .

providing an answering service, Ms. Stevenson was told that the desk could easily be cranked up
or down so that the employee could stand or sit as needed.

As for the Central Parking job, the Qméloyee typically sits"in a cashier booth taking
parking fees. However, the employee can get out, walk around, do squats or leg stretches when

not waiting on customers.

Ms. Stevenson was questioned about Claimant’s own job search, including the LMS. As

a vocatlonal_pert she would cIaSSLfy appiymg for at least ﬁve _]ObS per day as a good fa1th_.-f..._____ e

effort. There are a lot of job-search engines out there on]me Based on Claimant’s job search’

Tog, taking.into consideration the letters beginning August 28 through October 23rd, it
appeared that Claimant applied for 24 jobs in 10 weeks, or 2.4 jobs per ﬁeek. Ms. Stevenson
also testiﬁed that Central Parking had told her that 1o applications were received from élaimant;
in. fact, she was alsp toldl-t'hat anyone who applies for a position from Tndeed.com énd islrejected
will get a letter that he or she had not gﬂo‘tten the job. Additionally, a representative of Be Truly

Well Chiropractic biad 1éviewsd all of e applications and also stated that she had no application
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for Clain;ant. She indicated that she had 4 similar position open OB Octobet 16" as the front
office assistant position identified, thot wh not the same one. |

As for the LabCorp position, Melissa COI]ILOI adwscd \/Is Stevenson orﬁ October 16,
7015 that they currently had po sitions open. She was unsure what the sta‘ms was on August 27"

when Claimant .stated she had spoken with LabCorp, though they do have posmons NOW.

Ms. Stevenson ccnfnmed that it is good that Claimant went out and “cold called” a lot of

——jobs, though unfortunately most only accept applications online. Ms. tevenson did note that a

Jot of the jobs Cla1mant amed her Iestlotm?Stevenson restified-that-the——————
yolume of applications is there, but in her personal view, Claimant did not perform 2 good faith,
quality search. Fom‘teen of the twenty places th;lt Claimant cold-called were ouiside of her
restrictions. Ms. Ste fenson opined that job searohmg requues some coTmmon Sense. 1f Claimant
hag a restriction agamst standing 00 much, she should not apply at Burger King, for example,
because Workérs will have 10 stand the entire chift, Claimant knows that she needs to sit between
5 and 8 hours pel shift, so it is not reasonable 10 apply to that type of job., Also, if she needs 10
{ift less than 10 or 20 pounds, she should not be applying 1o places"like Towes. Ms. Stevenson

-~~~ noted that Claimant had ;gpphed fora 10‘{ of fast food and housekeepmg type of positions and that

these were not sedentary in nature.

- As for her computer skills, the fact tha’;: Claimant identified job seeking site-s that not even
Ms. Stevenson knew about speaks to sorme sophistication online. This shows that Claimant has
~ more than just basic compuier okills. Claimant would need to be able- to type nfo & search
engine and find what she 18 looking for. Clalmant also has to type her applications online, which

furthei shows that she has some compuier skm‘s These are the same type of skills used by @
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front desk person or receptionist. The fact that Claimant claims to have no computer skills but
has completed such a job search, is inconsistent, in MS.._ Stevenson’s view.

Ms. Stevenson confirmed that While she 'identiﬁed ‘Lwelvé positions for ﬂ:ze LMS, these
are not the only jobs available in the open labor market. She is online everyday, looking fo;
posiﬁonsz In fact, on November 2, 2015 alone, Ms. Stevenson identified five sedentary “sitting™
jobs with Discover, HCAC, AAA, BFs Warehousé, Endoscopy Center, énd Westside Medical.

The following day, November 3", she identified five more sedentary “sitting” positions with
: p .

biaring, at which tine she had reccived Claimant’s handwritlen job search notes (Clainant’s

Valley Chiropractor, Halpern Fye, Delaware Hoépi_cé', Heﬁricﬁ and Shefatdﬁ:-’j

Ms. Stevenson further testified that Claimant’s training ﬁvith Delawére Skills Center is
viewed highly by potential employers. Employers love candidates; coming from there, largely
because there is such a strict interviewing process. The “cream of the crop” are selected in the
screening process and trained, and employers really think bighl}f of these candidates. Ms.
Stevenson confirmed that Delaware Skills Center also “goes overboard” in stressing the
importance of interviewing and resume writing.  She does not believe that Claimant’s

haﬁdv&fritten resume is to be expected from a person trained by Delaware Skills Center. The

resume also does not highlight her skills; it is a negative resume. Ms. Stevenson poinfed out that_

!
there are many resume templates available online that Claimant could have used. }
'
" Tn sum, in Ms. Stevenson’s opinion, Claimant’s job search was not a good faith, :
reasonable SCElil‘C_h.
On cross éxamination, Ms. Stcvensén confirmed that she believéd that cashier, clerk and
customer service type of jobs are appropriate for Claimant. She also confirmed that she only had

“Claimant’s Job Search Record” (Claimant’s Exhibit #1) to review until the day prior to the

" This search was marked as Employer’s Exhibit #5.
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Tixhibit #2). Having just received i, Ms. Stev_ensoﬁ had not had an opportunity to fully 1‘6‘."16\7\’-’
Lhe new job search 1e001d She agreed that the new record appears to contain about forty new
contacts. Ms. Stevenson test;ued that, prior to ber receipt of the new _]Ob search reeord, she had
only been privy to 24 confacts Claimant had made in the ten weeks begmnmg August 28, 2015..
Ms. Stevenson opmed however, that Claimant’s JOb SG&ICh should not have slowed down just
beeaus‘e she identified many jobs in the ﬁrst swo weeks. She admitted that Claimant appears to

have apphed for eleven of the ’cwelve L.MS jobs, however.

* Ms. Stevenson ag1eed that if Claimant does not ha\;e a cordﬁuter at }ddme;ﬁé’"d_ hl@l?b?ﬁ
limited for job-seeking purposes to & maximum of two hours per day at the public library. She
adimitted that she looks for jobs for a living and is very good at it; Claimant would likely not be
as adept at 1dent1fymg as many jobs as quickly as Ms. Stevenson does.

Ms. Stevenson would not agree that, to her knowledge Delaware Skills Center would not
‘Thelp Claimant. Ms. Stevenson testified that she is confused as to Claimant’s testimony in this
regard. Ms.-Stevenson saW & Jetter in which Delaware Skills Center had simply indicated that
there was ovemfhehmng interest in the program Claimant was applymg for and that the class was

-— - fullThe letter also mdlcated that Claimant should reapply 1 later The classes last 51xteen weeks,

and the letter was dated July 28, 2015, so another should be openmg soon. Ms. Stevenson would

expect Claimant to have a-leg up an the other applicants also, since she aheady compleied a

program there. To Ms. Stevenson, she was not denied; the class was just full when she applied.
The Board next questioned Ms. Stevenson. She conceded that she would think that

(Jairaant would have a leg up on the newer applicants from Delaware Skills Center, but does not

know this for sure.
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~ As for job searching, Ms. Stevenson confirmed that the process has changed dramatically
recently; everything: is-basically online NOW. Even when a czmdidate presents _dir'elctly to a
ldcation, éﬁen he or she is 'dﬁected to a ﬁlachine in the stox}e in which to plaée an application. A
lot of the human aspect of job_sesicing has gone out of the process. Much of job seeking involves |
- search engines online, thoﬁgh the sites do give scréen pops to help the applicant apply or receive

- help with a resume, for example.

In terms of whether an applicant @picaﬂy hears back after an application is placed, Ms.

S’[eV&I'ISOH tesﬁfied“that most Search engines will send a —éonﬁrmaﬁon ermail that an application -
has been received. The confirmation erhail then says that the company will reviex%r the
applica’cipn and that the applicant should hear back within 30 days or should apply back again.
Many employers destroy applications after 60 days or so, usually because they are unsure if
“applicants are still interesfed after that time. With some, a “rejection letter” 1s sent when another
applicant has received the job.

* Dr. Bruce Rudin, an orthopedic surgeon, testified by depos{tion on behalf of Claimant.**

Prior to Claimant’s July 23, 2012 work accident, Dr. Rudin performed a cervical surgery on

_ . Claimant in September. é)_f_—-_Z_O_OQ._; At that time, Claimant-had pathology,at,CS.:_é_and_C&'}’__’f_l_lat,v:«a's,i{__;ﬁ_;--T___._

unresponsive to éonsewative care. She had an anterior discectomy and fusion at both of those
levei.é and did not require any care of Dr. Rudin until after her July 2012 work accident.

After this accident, Dr. Rudin ﬁrsf treated Claimant in De_cémber of 2012. She did poorly
m conservative care and had a very lgrge disk hemiation at C4-5, the level above her prior
fusion. Dr. Rudin ultimately performed a discectory and fusion rsurgery with an application of
an anterior pia’fé in January of 2013. Unfortunately, Claimant did not heal well and had a tot of

stress across the disk space. She required another surgery for a posterior spinal fusion with

" Dr: Rudin’s deposition was marked into evidence as Claimant’s Exhibit #3.
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added mslrumenhuon to stabilize her spine in August 2013, Claimant never really got bettes and
eonti_nued with discomfort. She Was brought back in for anolhe:r surgery for instrumentation
removal and an addltionel bone graft on Oclober 8, 2014. |
After the.last surgery, Claimant had physical therapy aﬁd‘then was given a llOIIlG exercise
program. Dr. Rudin sent Claimant for an FCE. Part of the lifting porﬁon"of the .test' indicated
that Claimant eould work with up to ‘Lel:l pounds (sedentary) and the other part allowed her to lift

up to 12.5 pounds Dr Rudm felt that 12.5 pounds is a lot closer to 10 pounds than it is to 20

OIS (hcrh*rdu‘y) Tlus—took Into cons1derat1on tha‘{ she has-had- fom spmal—surgenes—andﬁhaf
half of her testing indicated she was eapable of only sedentarywqu, at best, anyway. Therefore,
Dr. Rudin concluded that Claimant could work full time in a sedentary position. Dr. Rudin feels

that it is risky to send Claimant back to Lift 20 pounds on a regular basis, which is what a l1ght

duty jol) would réquire. Instead, he believes sedentary work is the right choice for her to perform

on a long-term basis.

Dr. Rudin addressed the fact that the FCE results indicated that Claimant had not given

maximum effort on some of the tests. He testified that this is how people limit their ﬁmcﬁon on

the FCE. Pat1ents dQ wlw comfortably do during the fest. The exammer had 2lso

stated that this does not imply that she did not ry harcl Paﬁents who have hurt themselves
multiple times are typically afraid of hurting themselves again, especially as they might be asked
to do more than they-are pliyslcally capable of doing during the FCE.

On eross examination, Dr. Rudin was fust asked to address the LMS. e testified that he
wonld not approve of the Hess job on the LMS job, because it 1s a,light duty job. Dr. Rudin
apploved the Be Tmly Well, LabCorp, Cadia Rehabilitation, YMCA Delaware Park, Hertrich,

Tolf Brothers and US Secuity jobs beeauae they aie SCLlElJl’dI)’ i nature cand all require
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maximum lifting of 10 pounds. Dr. Rudin took issue with the Central Parking job, because he

was unclear whether Claimant would have to sit foo long in a booth. He agreed that the repoxt

stated that the “most essential functions can be performed while sitting or standing,” but stll -

rejected the job because the standing, sitting and walking durations were not filled out.
Dr. Rudin was unsure about the Z-Mart job. He agreed that it states that Claimant would

never have to lift more than 10 pounds, but he was concemed that she would have to stock the

store. If she had to lift two pounds 150 times, for example, that would nat be necessatily be okay

_Clarmant is currently stabilized and has reached maximum medi'calrip;provement.

forher:
Dr. Rudin next addressed the Appletree Answering Service job. it does Iﬁention that the
employee can sit or stand. He felt that an answering é;er{fice is usvally a sitting-type of job;
therefore, he finds that job to be‘suspgct.
Dr. Rudin agreed that he has encouraged Claimant to remain as active as possible. He
admuitted that he has not restricted her from going to the grocery 'stere,_ dri\fing or going- up or

down stairs. He acknowledged that he has released her 1o her family doctor, who will prescribe

her medication. Claimant now needs only follow up with Dr. Rudin annually. He agreed that

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

Ferminalion
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Nommally, in a total disability termination case, the employer is injtially required to show

that the claimant is not completely 111capaciaatcd (ie., demonstlatc medlcal employability”).

Howell v: Svupermarkéfsr General Corp., 340 A.2d 833, 835 (Del. 1975); Chrysler Corporation v.

Duff, 314 A.2d 915, 918n.1 (Del. 1973). Inresponse, the claimant may rebut that showing, show .

that he or she is a prima facie displaced worker or submit evidence of reasonable efforts to
secure employment which have been ansuccessful because of the injury (ie, actual

d1sP1acement) In 1ebutta1 the employer may then present evidence showmg the availability of

regular employment within the claunant s capabilities. Howell, 3407 A ZdTS?)S T DU, N i

at 918n.1. In this case, the Board ﬁnds that Claimant’s total disability status has terminated, but
that she remains entitled to full compensation as she has proven, that at least temporarily, sheis a
displaced worker.

There was no medical dispute in this cage that Claimant is physically capable of working.
Both medical experts testified that Claimant is capable of working somewhere between a
sedentary- and light duty level. Dr. Rudin placed Claimant at a sedent.ary level with a lifting

restriction of ten pounds, while Dr. Townsend placed Claimant slightly higher; he testified that

oo she- could work, safely somewhere between sedentaiy and hght duty, thh a hftmg restnctmn of

fifteen pounds. Although the medical experts opinions 1n regard to Clalmant s work capabﬂltles
do not differ by much, the Board does find Dr. Rudin’s rafionale-in placing Claimant at a
sedentary restriction to be most persuasive. Dr. Rudin reflected on the fact thét half of the lifting
portion of the FCE placed Claimant within a sedentary range. Hé further found it significant that
the ultimmate conclusion that she could lift no more than 12.5 pounds was closer to a _éedentary

limit of 10 p()unds than it was to a hght duty limit of 20 pounds. Dr. Rudin fur[hez noted that
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Claimant has had four surgeries in concluding that she i best suited for sedenfary work at
present. The Board found his rationale torbs_a sound. |

That being said, the partigs in. gene%a;i agreed that, withfiei éedentary lifting restriction,

Claimant cannot return to her former occﬁpation with Employer as a CNA. Mr. Rodriguez

~ confirmed that a CNA position is not sedeiritary in nature. In fact, Clajlnant’s actnal ﬁechanjsm

of injury—in that she at least partially “lifted” a resident—certainly was- enough to suggest that

this is the case. Mr. Rodriguez further testified that élthough sedentary jobs do exist within the

Liftle Sisters facility, there are currently no sedentary openings at the Newar_l_i; lovation - Theye _
_alsb was very liftle hope that dne of these pdsiﬁoﬁs Would open up any fime soon. Mr.
Rodriguez confirmed that sedentary positions, such as receptionist, seldom turn over at Little
Sisters. In fact, he testified that he had not had to hire éuch a position i approximately four
_ vears. Thus, as Dr. Rudin seems inclined to maintain Claiman;[ with sedentary work restrictions,
it is not reasonable (o believe that Claimant will be able to return to work for Little Sisters at any
time in the near future.
However, it has long been established that “total disability” doe;s not mean the “inability

~to continue in the same employment or the same line of work.” Federal Bake Shops, Inc. v.

Macz;msid, lé{‘).gA.Zd 615, 616 (Del. Super-._ 1962). Rather,_{t. is the inability to perf;m-l-inany
services other than those that are so limited in quality, depéndabﬂity or qﬁantity that a reasonably
stable market for themn does not exist. | M A. Hortrett, Inc. v. Coleman, 226 A.2d 910, 913 (Del.
1967). From a medical pérspectivé, while she cannot retum to her former CNA work for
Employer, the fact vemains frhat Claimant is capable of working in'som,e capaoity from a physical -

standpoint. Therefore, the next issue the Board must consider is whether Claimant qualifies as a

" Mr. Rodriguez testified that the next closest Liitle Sisters facility is in Baltimore, which is far more than 30 miles -
away from Claimant’s home address. Thus, whether or not there are sedentary openings in other Little Sisters
lpcations is not as relevant. As such, there was no testimony in this regard.
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_See Howell 340 A, 2d at 835; Duff, 314 A2d at 918n.1.

displaced worker. “A displaced worker is a paﬁiaﬂy disabled cla'jman‘[ who is deemed to be
LGLaHy disabled because he is unable to work in the compe’uh\fe Iabor market as a result of a
wﬁ%k—related injury.” Watson v. Wal-Mart Assocwtes Del. Supr, No. A42 2010, op. at 2
(October 21, 2011). An injured worker can be cons1dered-d1sp1aced cither on a prima facie basis
or through showing “actua s displacement. The employer can then rebut this showihg by

presenting evidence of the availability of regular employment within the claimant’s capabilities.

With respect to t}}e issuc of prima facie displacement, generally elements such as the
degree of obvious physical jmpaifment coupled with the claimant’s mental capacity, education,
Trai;njﬂg, and age are considered. Duff, 3 1u4 A.2d at 916-17. As a practical matter, to qualify as a-
prima facie displaced worker, one must ﬁormally have oﬁly worked as an unskilled laborer inthe
general labor field. See Vasquez v. Abex Corp., Del. Supr., No. 49, 1992, at "lﬁ 9 (November 5,
1992); Guy v. State, Del. Super., C.A. No. 95A-08-012, Barron, T 1996 WL 111116 at *6
(March 6, 1996); Bailey v. Milford Memorial Hospital, Del. Super;, C.A. No. 94A-03—001,

Graves, 1., 1995 WL 790986 at * 7 (November 30, 1995). In Claimant’s case, she has conceded

- that she.is.not prima faczrdmpiaced—(%launant is- ﬁfty eight years old and §0.18 about ten years —— ... ___

‘away from reaching a normal refirement age. While she is limited to sedentary work, she has

been trained in skilled WVOIk,‘ such as a CNA and patient caregiver type of work. She is not
liﬁlited to only p;rforfﬁjﬂg unski_lled labor; she has transferable skills. There is no suggestion.
that her mental capacity is anythﬂ@ but normal. Having trained at the Delaware Skills Center,
Claimant clearly s ?rai_n_abjle_ The Board believes that CIaimani’s presentation 1s 110£- édiisistéiit'-

with a prima facie displaced worker.
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However, Claimant argues that although she is not prima facie displaced, she is
‘-"af:tualiy” displaced. The general rule i1-1 workers’ coimpensation is that when é claimant is
physically capable of working to some degree, -the c;Iaim_ani (not the empltoyer) has Thé priméry
burden to éhow that reasonable efforts were made to sécure sruitable employrgent within the
claimant’s 1'estri_ctions. Hoey v. Chiysler Motors Corp., Del. Supr., No. 85, 1994, Hartneﬁ:, J., at
97 (December 28, 1994). Thus, a “claimant who is not prima facie displaced has the burden to

prove that he made a reasonable job search, but was unable to obtain employment because of his

disabﬂitj” Waison, op. at 2. The inability to find work must be a direct -result of an injury andr _
not just the reéu[t of geneial economic conditions. Federal Bake Shops, Inc. v. Maczynsky, 180
A.2d 615, 616 (Del. Super. 1962). See also Doe v. General Foods Corp., Del. Super.,, C.A. No.
83A-AU-4, Rid,c;rely, T., 1986 WI. 6589 at *3 (May 21, 1986). |

In conducting a reasonable job search, the claimant must make a “diligent, good faith
effort to. locate suitable employment in the vicinity.” Bernier v. Forbes Steel Ensign Wire Corp.,
Del. Super., C.A. No. 85A-FE-17, Taylor, J., 1986 WL 3980 at *zla\darch 5, 1986), aff'd, 515

A2d 188 (Dél. 1986). This same language can also be found i Joyres v. Peninsula Oil Co.,

—= Del.-Super; C.A. No. 00A-06-001, Witham, T., 2001 WL 392242 at ¥4 (March 14, 2001).” For

exémple, making four job applications in over a year would not ;onsﬁtute a diligent or
reasonable effort. See Zdziech v. Delaware Authority for Specialized Ti'a};lSpO?'l‘al'fO?’l, Del.
Super., C.A. No. 8.7A~AU—10, Gebelemn, T., 1988 WL 109338 at *5 (October 13, 1988).. In
determining the reasonableness of é. claimant’s job search, “[t]he Board cannot find against the

“claimant simply because the claimant did not do everything he could have done. Its task is to

determine whether the claimant’s cfforts were reasonable, not whether they were perfect.”

Waison, op. 2t 6,- Nevertheless, if a claimant fails to take certain obvious, common-sense (i.e.,
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reasonable) efforts to find work, that failure should be considered as evidence -agamst the
_reasonabieness of the search.

In this case, the Board felt that Whﬁéﬂ Clahnant did fail om some 'l@VGlS n perfbrming a
“perfect” search such as cited in WQISOﬁ, she still showed what the Board felt fo be a good faith
effort to find work.!® Watson, id. Tﬁe totality of her search did ﬁot appear. to be in bad faith or

lackadaisical in pature. There was no doubt after reviewing Claimant’s job search submissions

_ that she certainly identified a large numb;r of potential employers. Tt was true that a large

> - - s mees
number of her total search did include “cold” discovery of potential employers, mostly resulting

in the identification of positions that appeared to be outside of her restrictions. This was evident

by the fact that Claimant documented why each job was. problematic, whether it was due to a

need to stand for too long or due to higher lifting requirements. Claimant explained this,‘_

however, 1o the Board’s satisfaction. Claimant testified that once she was released to work, she
simply identified jobs anywhere and everywhere in close proximity to her home with the hope of

finding work. While these positions were admittedly outside of Claimant’s sedentary work

-
16 The Board recognizes that Claimant’s aifempts to find work were not always without issue. For example, it
appeared.to. the. Roard that Claimant had recognized in the past the importance of 2 professional-appearing typed

- ~—- - ~— tesume and-that, “for this reason, she had taken the exira stép 6 hiave her resume typewritten prior-ta hel worlc for
=== - TLitle Sisters In'this $ate vein, 1t would have béén more iaéal i shie tiad Again pursuéd having someone from DVRTT™

type her updated resume with a focus on highlighting her skillset. Additionalily, while Claimant placed many
applications, she did place applications for some jobs that were outside of her resirictions. At times, she also was
somewhat old-fashioned in her job seeking, in that she “cold called” potential employers; this means that she
presented af locations unaware of whether there were actually @y positions open with the company'.

The Board also nates that, as soon as Claimant was physically released to wark, her “job” essentially became to
find employment, While Claimant certainly identified a high number of potential employers and submitted many
applications, the Board feels that she perhaps could have averaged more meaningful applications each day. By this,

" the Board means that Claimant could have specifically placed more applications within her sedentary work

restrictions. Most of the applications also appeared to be clustered into ceriain weeks, with other weeks seemingly
without any job searching. Additionally, the Board observed a large number of potential employers identified, ene
right afier the other, in which it appeared that Claimant noted all of the reasons why each “identified” job would be
outside of her work resirictions, which was 2 COnCern. These jobs were handwritten and the date each was identified
was left uindated by Claimant they were contained at the back of Claimant’s Exliibit #1. However, Claimant
testified that these jobs were identified earty on during her job guest, and that as time went on, it did appeat that
_ Claimant’s search became mors focused and meuningful in nature.  With these Lubogs agide, Clamant clesddy did
identify and apply for more than thirty positions within her restrictions, including all of those she was able to apply
for that were identified on the LMS. ’ :




zestﬁctiqns, this still showed a great amount of effort in trying to find work. And, while
_vhindsight shows that no joi)s were U_ltimateljf idenﬁ‘ﬂed, Claimant cc;uld not be sure .that she
would not find a job within hCI 1'esfricﬁons when inquiring of theseeﬁployers_. Thus, the Board
canpot fault her for making this effort.’

However, even setting those “cold call” jobs aside, the Board notes that Claimant still

applied for many jobs within her restrictions. These jobs included customer service positions,

cashiers, receptionists, -clerks, and the like. Claimant identified and/or applied for at least thirty

of these type of positions.” Claimant also applied for eleven of the twelve positions from the
LMS that were presented.to her by Employer as being within her restrictimné, thoug]i she was
unable to apply for the twelfth position that was closed and would not allow for application with
the company. In sum, although unsuvccessful, the Board does find that overall Claimant made a
reasonable, goqd faith effort to find work. The Board also notes that it did find Claimant to be

_credible that she genuinely wanted to find work. |
The Board next tums to the issue of whether Claﬁﬁant’s aifﬁculty in finding work was

due to her work-related disability. Claimant testified that she advised the potential employers of

R ;.her..,sedentaa:y,—workfrestﬂcticns::There‘:is;_no;_argunient that Claimant placed many, many

applications and had disclosed her sedentary restrictions to each employer. She testified that

most of her applications apparently resulted in no response from the potential employer. The

Board notes that it has been stafed by the Court that if “the claimant advises prospective
P : : .

| employers that he has a physical limitation, and he does not get the job, there is an inference that

employer tumed the claimant down because of the partial disability.” Watson, op. at 6 n.4 (citing

Keeler v. Metal Masters Foodservice Equipment Co., 712 A.2d 1004, 1005-(Del. 1998)). Here,

not only was there some tacit suggestion that Claimant had likely not heard back on any number
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of applications due to her restric_;tic;ns, there was actually some more direct indication that this
was the situaﬂon. For example, Ciaiman.t- testified that she had presented to 'Rite Aid end B
'questioﬁe-d ‘about openings. ~She was tolil that there was an Opening and she filled out an
applicatioﬁ on site. -There was apparently no obvious indication that the position she applied for
would have bBCI-l outside of her work cestrictions.  Once Claimant finished filling ou{ the
application, the manager was -apparently called over to veview it and to meet Claimant.

Claimant testified that, after reading over her application, the manager then questioned het about

——  ~%yhat W _rg‘o_hig—on_with*her”"and’abouth'ersedentaty'rééﬁiﬁﬁﬁéﬁ:m'sh?ﬂiﬁlUse'd'—morew—

detail about hef restrictions, she was fold that she could not be a candidate and the application
was then immediately ripped in half byv the manager. To the Board, this is direct evidence that
Claimant’s partial disability played arole in her not being considered for the job.”

There was even more evidence of this revealed during the hearing. Claimant testified
that two of the LMS ernployers, Delaware Park and Hertrich, had sent her vemails basically
indicating that they were not interested in hiring her at present. Again, she was Seeﬁﬁngly
summarily rejected from a cashier and a receptionist position without an. interview following

_'___;ij@pliggjc_i_opsiplgi_q@q7?;}_‘ifhiigh,she Jade disclosure of her sedentary restrictions. Notably, these

were two of the very employers that Ms.' Stevenson testified would haxf-é.tz_ons;;i;gvrgd Claﬁmant
equally as a Qandidate despite her sedentary restrictions.

Additionally, Claimant. further testified that when she had advised other potential
empldyers of her wor_k Testrictions, many would not éven allo;w her to fill out an application.
She test'iﬁe.d that some would, but many would not. However, it was notable that Claimant never

heard back from the vast majority of the employers that allowed her to apply despite her

Y the Board further notes that in Claimant’s job log, regard to the Rile Aidj-ob, she docurented ial she ¥ told
that “Rite Aid capnot Lisk the liability.” She was also apparently informed that the work included many duties that
exceeded her capabilities. i
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restrictions. Claimant testified that some of the cashier positions that, at first glance, would seem

to fall within a sedentary restriction and also appeared to provide an easy accommeodation for her

condition with a stool, ultimately had not panned out for het. Claimant testified that she was

iformed at Chipoﬂe, for exémple, that a cashier job would be “too physical” for her and that
nothing was aﬁaﬂable “within her restrictions.” ikewise, when she attempted to apply for a job

working 1 the fast food area at Costco and disclosed her restrictions, she was then told that

employees needed to be able. to do evefjf Job within the store, including stocking, in order to be

- ':'L""—iurediﬁ:érﬂ'.:s‘he;ﬁrasﬁhenftoIdi’iﬁﬁfféestco'a-lso—enly%jjres'-jn—‘the%ériﬂgf}?a oth-of theserejections

appeared suspect to the Board. If‘trt_le, this is of grave concern, as it appears that this employer
ﬁreuld never hire anyone with any disability. It does seem to the Board that Claimant was at
times turned away specifically due to her sedentary restriction, which directly relates back to her
work injury. |

As a practical matter, in terms of a good faith job search the Board also notes that a
claimant has complete control over how she plesents herself to potential employers. There is,

therefore an inherent obhga‘tmn of good faith on the part of a searching claimant. Here,

Clalmant testified that M prudent -to mform potentlal employers of hez _sedent:

restrlctlons and thus, had placed this mformatlon on the e resume that she provided or dlreetly on
~her applications. Otherwise, she verbally informed potential employers of her work restrictions.
Clatmant explained to the Board that she felt that it was un{’vise to hide the fact that she had a
sedentary restriction Dbecause it made no sénse fo accept a job that she would be unable to

I

perform.  She was also understandably concemed with further injuring herself by accepting

,

ermployment with requircments outside of her restrictions. The Board did not find evidence,

beyuie snaply informing potential emplovers of these restrictions, that Clanant purposely




presented yerself in a negative fashion t0 discourage employment. In this way, the Board thus

~ concludes that Claimant has shown that she performed a ceasonable, good faith job search that
ﬁas unsuccessful, at least partially, -dli.é to her work IBIE;'[Bd resirictions.

In sﬁm, h-avmg-direc’t evidence of rejection and of having not heard back on virtually any

of her many applications in which shé disclosed her physical iin]itations, as Watson recognized,

there is said to be a presumption that her disability played a role in ber lack of qnccess.

. (laimant testified, and Ms. Stevenson confirmed, that the employers (including the LMS

)*Jé'r_nﬁo—yer)s)_wﬁlﬂd‘ Edld‘ﬂpp‘lic&tiﬁﬂs*for‘a*peﬂodﬁof—ﬂ60ﬂays.reiaMﬁTﬂh&-éfm— S

ﬂla;[ if after that amount of time che had still not heard anything, she should presume that she had
not received the job and then consider reapplying. It was clea?' that Claimant was well beyond
this timeframe on rﬁost, if not all, of the applications she had placed. All of these factors
considered, the Board conoludes ihat Claimant’s physical limitations had played a role in her nc;t
having received employment. T]ius, the Board finds that Claimant has shown that she performed

a reasonable, good faith job search that was unsuccessful, at least in part, due to her physical
disability.

"~ Thus, the burden _s_b_if_t'sjgaclg__’_torgm}_)loyer {0 rebut this showing. Employer relies on the

LMS as proof that there ar¢ jobs available within the general labor market within Claimant’s
sedentary restrictions. However, the Board first notes that in finding Dr. Rudin’s opinion to be
persuasive, the Roard agrees that some of the LMS jobs are potentially szoblematic. The Hess

job was problematic, as it was light duty (not sedentary) in nature. Ms. Qfevenson was also not

- 18 Claimant apparently applied for more than seventy jobs In total after her release by Dr- Rudin; however, the Board
focuses mote on the mMoie than thirty she had apniied to that fell more squarely withi Her work Tesiriclions as
" opposed to (hose where the openings were outside of her restrictions. That being said, there was s0me consideration
given regarding the cffort laken by Claymont in presenting G poiential cmploysrs “cald” just (o see if fhere were aiy
" gpenings within her restrictions, despite the fact that she was (o}d that there were none. These “cold” contacls
amounted to about 46; at the same time, however, Claimant also applied for aver thirty positions that were within

her restrictions.
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convincing that the jobs that required lifiing heavier théﬂ ten pounds at convenience stores AcouAld
be modificd by Claimant’s simply lifting one sodé at a time for a customer instead of an' entire
case of soda, for example. This did not ﬁaké sense (o fhé Board. A cﬁétomer wiﬂ almost
definitely ﬁrefer to havé soda contained within an enclosgd box for transportation purposes as
opposed to having individual bottles or cans removed one by one.. The Boérd did not find this

accommodation to be realistic. Further, like Dr. Rudin, the Board had concerns that these

positions would require some level of stocking within the stores that would be outside of

:;;“;Claimﬁﬁt*sr]jfﬁngresﬁicﬁonb. - - — --
Also like Dr. Rudin, the Board further took issue with the Central Parking job identified

on the LMS. Dr. Rudin was concemed that the job would require t0o much sﬁting of too long of

a duration within a booth. He tesﬁﬁed that the job’s required durations of sitting, standing and

walking were not ﬁHed out, making this unclear. Ms. Stevenson’s testimony did little to help

settle these concerns. She testified that, when the parking facility was not busy, Claimant would

be free to leave the booth, walk around, and stretch. However, there was no information on

whether Claimant would be hired to work during periods when the parking facility remained

particularly busy or how often--or for how long--the facility is not busy.. Certainly, she would -

not be ablg fo 1ea.x};£];e bOOtil duning perioisgwhen cars are lined up u;;iting to enter and/or exit.

The Board hgd concerns that there was not rﬁore specific information in regard fo how often she
would be able to take such a break from the booth.

The Board also found Claimant’s note taking in regard to her LMS job search to be

telling. She indicated that one LMS employer told ‘her Thét- ‘her l_irnitations

" “are incompatible with the | job.”> She further dbcumented that a reprgsen’tétive of US : Security

told i thal the security guard Postéion tequized that she “must be able to stand for eight hours.”
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Claimant also noted that a representaﬁve of Be Truly Well told her that she needed “extensive

experience {1 computers” $or a front office assigtant posifion. While Claimant clearly has some

skill pavigating computers, the Board certainly bas seen 1O eviden-ce to categorize her a8

having “extensive experience.” Tn fact, Mr. Rodriguez confirmed that Claimant’s job &t Little

Qisters was fairly rudimentary in this regard in that at the time that che worked there, all of the

medical do cumentation had to be pamstaldngly handwritten. Beyond these jobs, Claimant either

B did’noﬁeceivaanlzesponse, received 1€] ection emails and/or Was told that there wete no current

S S ——— R

. operings.

Tn any cast, even setting these cONCErNs aside, the Board was concermed that there was
seemingly no testimorty 10 regard 0 whether the vast majority of the jobs identified on the LMS
were still available af the time of ﬂle'hearing. The Board was leﬁ questionjng this 1ssue,
especially 83 Claimant testified that.she had applied for eleven of the twelve jobs OB the LMS
that she was able to-apply for. Claimant also testified that, ouch 1ike her own job search, either
the LMS positions were not actually open or, following her placement of an application, she

never heard pack about ab interview o otherwise.w Ms. Qtevenson’s testimony confirmed that if

e = aﬂappﬁ.e

ant has not H@Iéj‘gaglspgg_ob, appligat_iqg_jadthm about 30 to 60 days, the indication is

- tha{ the épplicant has been 1€} ected.

As the Supreme Court po'mtéd out in-Watson, the 1abor market SUVeYs “do not purport 0

establish that guch jobs 21é available, only that they exist and were available at s0ME point.” The

e

¥ Claimant testified that she was unable 10 apply for (he twelfth job, a8 it was apparently «closed” when she sought
1o apply- She also indicated on her job search forin that in regard to the 17 jobs, she Was told there was IO longer @n
operrmg, that they Were ot interested in hiring her of {lat the job actually would actuaily be prob]ema_tic given her
regtrictions. Otherwise, Ciaimant received 1o response of her other LMS applications. Further, Claimant was,
appatently adwised by ne of the LMS employers that there werd “yany applicants” $or the position- Not
surprisisglys she did not hear anyﬂﬁng further alter she placed hev application for that joh. As recognized 10
Waison, “[a] job gpening that generates 2 long e of app]icanls.-‘.ca‘nnotv easonably be considered av availabte job.
Cornmnen Sense tells ue that an ernployer 18 going 0 hire a person with 1o digabilities for an eniry level anskalled job

that is int demand.” Watson, id. op. at9 7.
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Court also cited Adams, noting that “la] proper'appﬁcation of the displ_gced worker docirine can
only be made by considering the contémporancous availability of empioyi11ent.”20 Like Wafson,
the Board is ‘concemed :tha;t Claimént applied for ahno;st éverﬁr job idéntiﬁed oﬁ the LMS,
without awy sign of success. For the Boafd, thié really does “signjﬁcantly diminish” the

evidentiary value of the T MS itself ** As such, the Court noted that “[w]itﬁou‘[ more, such a

survey establishes only that the claimant might be able to find work, not that appropriate jobs are

actually available.” This Board finds that the I;MS in this case, like Watson, was msufficient to o

f——;'—_dvercome;@iahmantiskshowmg;Eét—sheMbie—tﬁm‘d work within Her \@l@léted

restrictions. Therefore, the Board finds tﬁat she has met her burden to show that, at ieast
temporarily, she is displaced.

While the Board concludes that Claimant has met her burden to show that she is currently

acfually displaced, the Board wishes to stress that the fotality of the evidence strongly Suggests

that this is likely only a temﬁorary condition. Claimant does not fit the typical presentation of a

displaced worker, such as an unskilled taborer who is never agam able to perform heavy tiuty

work due to sedentary work restrictions and, that due to a lack of transferable skills, is essentially

incapable of performing any other work. Conversely, the Board—vxigs_ﬁfggygqu by v

~ Stevenson and Mr. Roéngu;z’s testimony that Claimant has many assets and various ;
transferable skills to offer botential employers. She is trainable, educated and has also proved
berselfto be a valuable empioyee. She has also done very well in a “customer satisfaction” type

~of context, such as that similar to what she performed as a caregiver of residents and a CNA.

—_—
* ddarns v. Shore Disposal, Inc., 720 A2d 272,273 (Del. 1998) cited in Watson, idop. at 7. .

o atson, id. Claimant’s log of her applications to the [.vS Jobs indicates that either she was toid fhat there were
O openings at present or she was told that she would hear back for an interview if there was any interest by the
cimployer. These appiications were apparently placed on the last weck of August and Claimant testified that she has,
not yet heard back. Again, Ms. Stevenson confinned that if an applicant does not hear huck between 30 to 60 days
after an application vva piaced, it is almost definite that the position was filled with another applicant, Clafmant
further testified that two of the LMS employers, Delaware Park and Hertrich, emailed her that they were not
mterested in hiring her at the present time. -
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The Board also found Claimant to be pleasant and well-spoken and felt that she would be an

asset for any cmployex

The Roard feels that it is.very possfole that some of Clamman nt’s lack of success is simply
due to the short timefrarne be’cween Claimant’s release to work and the pendency of the instant

petition. S0, while Claimant’s job search has 50 far been unsuccessful, the Board remains very

hopeful that this situation will not continue for 'Long The Board wishes to sUesS the jmportance

" that Clalman’t continaes—to- 30b sMﬁen as possfble with 2 pnmaxy focus on the

identification of work specifically Wlth]ll her sedentary restrictions.

For all these reasons, the BOEId finds that Claunant s job search efforts constituted 2
reasonable and good faith search and that there Was sufficient evidence that her efforts failed, at
least in some regard, due 10 her work- rela’ted restnctmns. Therefore, Claimant has estabhshed at

least temporarily, that she 1s actualty displaced. As such, the Board finds that at present

(laimant 18 entitled to contin inued benefits i fhis regard at her established total disability

compensation rafe.

Attorney s Fee & Medical Witness Fee

A claunant Who who -is. ‘awarded compensa‘aon is_entitled to pa ayment 0 Of a :easonable

i s — —

attorney’s fee ‘in an amount not to excsed thirty percent of the award or ien times the average
weekly wage in Delaware as a1m0unced py the Secretary of Labor at the time of the aﬁard,
whichever 18 smaller.” DEL. CODE ANN fit. 19, § 2320. At the current tIme, the maximum based
on Delawar;a’s average weekly wage caloulates to $10, 194.40. The factors that mast ‘be
con&dexed i1 assessing a fee are set forth 1n Geneml Moz‘ors Corp. v. Cox, 304 A2d 55 (Del. _

197 3) The Board is peirTm itted 10 award Jess than the maximum fee and conmderatmn of the Cox -

factors does not prevent the Board hom grapting a nommai or mnnmal oe i ab appropt 1t
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case, 5o long as soxﬁe fee is awarded, See Heil v. Naz‘ionwia’e: Muiual Insurance Co., 371 A.2d
1077; 1078 (Del. 1977); Ohfrt v. Kentmere Hqir_ze,_DeI. Sui)e?., .C.A‘ No. 96'A~Ol—005_, Coach, I,
1996 WI, 527213 at *6 (August 9 1996). A ¢ reasonable”'fee does not generally mean a
generous fee. See Henlopen Hotel Cor p. V. Aetna Insumnce Co., 251 F. Supp. 189, 192 (D. Del.
1966). Claimant, as the- party seekjng the award of the fee, bea;s the burden of proof In
proyi'dingi sufficient information to make the requisite calculation. By operation of law, thé

amount of attomey s fees awarded apphes as an offset to fees that would othemnse be cheu ged to

Clau:nant under the fee agreement be’tween Claimant and Claimant’s a‘ftorney DeL. CODE ANN.
tit. 19, §2320(10)a.

Claimant has achieved a finding that she is entitled to continuing total disability benefits
on the basis of actual displacement. Claimant’s counsel submitted an affidavit stating that 15
hours were spent preparing for the hearing. The hearing itself lasted for éppromlﬁlately 3 hours.
Claimant’s counsel was admitted to the Delaware Bar in 1989 and he is very familiar with
Workers compensation litigation, a specialized area of law. His initial contact wfch Claimant
with respect to this matter was in July of 2013 so the period of representation has been for well

over two years ThlS case mvolved ne- dlfﬁcult OLunusual questlons of fact or- law— Counself

does not appear to have been subject to any unusual time limitations imposed by either Claimant

or the circumstances. There is no evidence that counsel was actually precluded from accepting

other employment because of his representation of Claimant, although naturally he could not

work on other matters at the exact same time that he was working on t}us one. Counsel’s fee
- . arangement Wﬂh Claimant is on a contingency basis. Counsel does not expect to receive
compensation from any other S0urce wﬂh 163pect to this particular litigation, There is no-

uqd(,nu, that the e employer lacks he financial ability to pay an attorney’s fée."

8. -




Taking into con51derat10n fhe fees customarlly charged in this locality for such services
as weie :scndewd by Claunant s counsel and the factors set forth above, the Boald fmds that an
attomey 5 fee in the amount of §5, 500 00, or thirty percent of the award pmsuani to this decis_icﬁ,
whichever is less, 18 appIOpl iate. The Board does not find this fee to be excessive, in light of the
factors discussed above.

 Medjcal witness fees for testinony on behalf of Claimant are awarded to Claﬁnant, in

“acoordance with title. 19 section 2322(c) of the Delaware Code

STA LEI%@NT OF THE EETERIVENE&"EE@N e

'For the reasons set forth above, the Board finds that while Employer has shown that
Clajmant is physically capable of working i a sedentary capacity, Claimant has proven actual
displacement. Thus, at present, she continues to be entitled to benefits at ber established total
disability compensation rate. Therefore, Employer shall make appropriafe reimbursement to the
Workers’ Compensation Fund, in accordance with title 19, seétion 2347 of the Drelaware Code.

" Clajment 18 awarded an attomey’s fee in the amount of $5,500.00, ox thirty percent of the award

pursuant to this decision, whichever is less, and payment of her medical wi‘mesé fees.
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EF S SO ORDERED THIS 18" DAY OF NOVEMBER, 2015.

INDUSTRIAL ACCIDENT BOARD

-LOWELL L. GROUNDLAND"

e — T JGEN D DANIELLO : - e
I, Kimberly A. Wilson, Hearing Officer, hereby ceniify that the foregoing
is a true and corzect decision of the Industrial Accident Board,
YL
th WA
Mailed Date: @ |- 2015 D
OWC Staff
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